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2 I . 

MEMORANDUM OF POINT S AND AUTHORITIES 

INTRODUCTION 

3 As a matter of law and undisputed facts, the Individual Defendants are entitled to 

4 summaty judgment on Plaintiffs claims arising from his tetmination as President and CEO of 

5 Reading International, Inc. ("RDI" or "the Company"). 

6 First, there is no basis in law or fact to find that the tetmination of Plaintiff as an officer 

7 was, or could have been, a breach of fiduciary duty. Plaintiff has not identified a single case in 

8 any jurisdiction-let alone Nevada-in which a board's decision to tellllinate an officer was 

9 subjected to any "faimess" rev iew, or in which the firing of an officer has ever been detennined 

IOta be a breach of fiduciary duty, or in which a former CEO has been reinstated as a remedy for a 

11 purpolted breach of fiduc ialY duty. There are no such cases. To the contrary, courts uniformly 

12 bar breach of fiducialY duty claims against directors arising from their decision to tell11inate an 

13 officer-even where, as here, those claims were asserted by the officer and stockholders. Their 

14 reasoning is clear: the termination of an e.xecutive by a board is a purely operational decision 

15 that does not implicate its fiduciary duties. Thus, Nevada's corporate statutes vest broad 

16 discretion in RD T' s Board to determine the course of the Company, and allow "removal before 

17 the expiration" of an officer's te1l11 whenever "prescribed by the bylaws." NRS 78 . 130(3)-(4) . 

18 R DI 's Bylaws, which are the contract between its stockholders, similarly provide that Plaintiff 

19 could "be removed at any time, with or without cause, by the Board of Directors by a vote of not 

20 less than a majority of the entire Board at any meeting thereof. " Indeed, Nevada law provides 

21 for broad application of the bus iness judgment rule to all bus iness matters, such as decisions on 

22 hiring and firing of executives. NRS 78.138(3) . Not surprisingly, Plaintiff has simply avoided 

23 Nevada law, RDI 's Bylaws, and the majority vote of the enti re Board in favor of his removal in 

24 both his motion and opposition on the issue of his telmination. The law and undisputed facts are 

25 fatal to his claims. 

26 Second, even assuming the termination of an executive could be actionable as a breach of 

27 directors' fiduc iary duties in Nevada (even under the law as Plaintiff wishes it was), Plaintiff has 

28 woefully failed to establish the elements of such a claim. Although there is no basis for 

. I . 
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evaluating the "fairness" of the process of the decision to telminate, the undisputed evidence 

2 compels a conclusion it was fair-to RDI foremost (the actual "derivative plaintiff'), cf NRS 

3 78 .1 40(2)(d) (Nevada 's only "faimess" test, which analyzes whether an interested director 

4 transaction was "fair to the corporation" before potentially voiding it), but also to Plaintiff. After 

5 a period of difficult and abrasive management requiring extensive intervention by Board 

6 members (individually and collectively), the Board made a decision after extensive debate and 

7 with Board members (now Defendants) freely vot ing on each side. In an act of classic fairness 

8 (and consistent with RDT's Bylaws), the majority ruled-and decided-to terminate Plaintiff. 

9 These same undisputed facts establish that, even if there was a fiduc iary breach stemming from 

10 the Board ' s decision, the Individual Defendants would not be liable because there is no evidence 

II that the breach involved "intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of law," as 

12 required by NRS 78.138(7). Finally, Plaintiff has proffered no evidence of damages to RDI or 

13 proximate causation. Indeed, to the extent his "damages" consist of the fact of telmination and 

14 he seeks reinstatement, such a remedy is unavailable. 

15 Third, even if the telmination of an employee could theoretically constitute the breach of 

16 a fiduciary duty (which it cannot), and Plaintiff could establish the required elements of such a 

17 claim (which he cannot), Plaintiff lacks standing to derivatively assert breach of fiduciary duty 

18 claims against the director Defendants arising from his telmination. After over a year of 

19 discovery, he has failed to identify a single stockholder of RD I (other than himself) that suppoliS 

20 his wrongful telmination claims and demand for reinstatement. Plaintiff's pursuit of a purely 

21 personal claim makes him inadequate to sue derivatively on the claim. 

22 With no legal or factual support for Plaintiff's termination claims and reinstatement 

23 demand, the Individual Defendants are entitled to summary judgment. 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

II. ARGUMENT 

A. Plaintiff' s Termination Cannot Support a Breach of Fiduciary Duty Claim 

Despite 50 pages of briefing, Plaintiff has failed to come fOlward with evidence to 

establish disputed facts suppOliing his claim. Moreover, he cites no law to support a breach of 

- 2 -
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fiduc iary duty claim arising from an executive's tenllination. Plaintiff does not identify any 

2 case, anywhere, that has recognized the viability of such a claim. l Indeed, the law and facts belie 

3 such a claim. As the Individual Defendants argued in their opening brief, Plaintiff cannot asseli 

4 a viable breach of fiduciary duty claim arising from his telmination given RDl's clear Bylaws 

5 and the broad latitude afforded dec isions by a board of directors under Nevada law. (Defs.' MSJ 

6 No. I at 14- 17.) Plaintiff, in both his motion and his opposition, has entirely ignored this issue, 

7 which is dispositive of his termination claim and reinstatement demand. 

8 Plaintiff does not dispute that a Nevada corporation is a product ofstatutolY and contract 

9 law. The statute is NRS Chapter 78: Private Corporations. The charter and bylaws are the 

10 contracts among the stockholders of a corporation. See NRS 78.060, 78.120, 78 .135; see also 

II Centaur Partners, IVv. Nat'/Intergroup, Inc., 582 A.2d 923, 928 (Del. 1990) (same). "[Ulnder 

12 Nevada's corporations laws, a corporation 's board of directors has full control over the affairs of 

13 the cOlporation." Shoen v. SAC Ho/ding COIp., 122 Nev. 621,632 (2006) (citation and intemal 

14 quotation marks omitted); see also NRS 78.120(\) ("Subject only to such limitations as may be 

15 provided by this chapter, or the articles of the corporation, the board of directors has full control 

16 over the affairs of the corporation."). 

17 Under Nevada law-ignored by Plaintiff-corporate officers such as a CEO or President 

18 have no vested right to remain in their position. Rather, officers serve only " for such telms and 

19 have such powers and duties as may be prescribed by the bylaws or detenllined by the board of 

20 directors," and an officer may be subject to "removal before the expiration of his or her term." 

21 NRS 78.130(3)-(4) . RDl's Bylaws milTor NRS 78.130, and expressly provide that Plaintiff 

22 selved solely "at the pleasure of the Board of Directors," such that he could "be removed at any 

23 time, with or without cause, by the Board of Directors by a vote of not less than a majority of the 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

l As noted in the Individual Defendants ' opposition, Plaintiff relies entirely on Delaware 
authority about general fiducialY duties arising under Delaware law, and inferences drawn from 
Delaware cases addressing where a board is alleged to have breached its duties when faced with 
a corporate merger or sale, or where there is an accusation that corporate assets have been 
misused. Noticeably absent is any case law in which the telmination of an officer's employment 
is the subject of a fiduciaty duty claim. (Defs .) Opp'n at 14 (collecting cases cited by Plaintiff).) 

- 3 -
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entire Board at any meeting thereof." (HD# I Ex . 19 Ali . IV § lO i Not surprisingly, Plaintiffs 

2 Employment Contract was consistent with RDI's Bylaws, as it similarly recognized that the 

3 Board had an undiminished right to telminate him "with cause," in which event he was owed no 

4 relief, or "without cause," in which case he was due a specified sum. (HD# I Ex. 20 § 10.) 

5 Plaintiff makes no showing how the Individual Defendants breached a contract with 

6 RDl 's stockholders and abrogated any of their fiduciary duties if the Company's Bylaws and his 

7 employment contract 5pecifically allowed the Board to terminate Plaintiff at any time, for any 

8 reason, and a majority of th e entire Board voted to do so---which is what indisputably occurred.J 

9 Indeed, numerous courts have held that a plaintiff cannot use "an appeal to general fiduciary 

10 law" to transform a case involving the dismissal of an officer into a claim that a company's 

II directors "breached a fiduciary duty as corporate officers," and have found arguments identical 

12 to those asserted by Plaintiff to be "novel" and with "no case in suppoli ." (See Defs.' MSJ No. 

13 at 14-16 (collecting cases).) In Sholi, a board ' s decision to fire (or hire) an officer is an 

14 operational function that does not implicate its fiduciary duties . 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

2 Citations to "HD# I" refer to exhibits attached to the Declaration of Noah S. Helpem in 
Support of the Individual Defendants ' Motion for Summary Judgment No. 1; ci tations to 
"H D#2" refer to exhibits attached to the Helpem Declaration in SUPPOli of the Indiv idual 
Defendants ' Motion for Summary Judgment No. 2; and citations to "HDO" refer to any new 
exhibits attached to the Helpem Declaration in SUPPOli of the Individual Defendants ' Opposition 
to Plaintiffs Motion for Pmiial Summary Judgment. Any exhibits cited by Plaintiff in his 
opposition but not already included in the Indiv idual Defendants ' previous filings will be 
refelTed to using Plaintiff's "Appendix." No new factual evidence is attached to this reply brief. 

J The Board' s January 15, 20 IS resolution-in which all five non-Cotter directors agreed 
that in order to tenninate "the CEO" (and/or Ellen and Margaret Cotter), a majority of the non­
Cotter directors would be required to vote in favor of doing so- is beside the point. Not only is 
it black-letter law that bylaws trump board resolutions, see 18A Am. Jur. 2d Corporations § 253 
(2016), a majority of the non-Cotter directors in fact voted to remove Plaintiff as RD I's CEO and 
President. Although that should be the end of the issue, as explained in the briefing relating to 
the Individual Defendants ' Motion for Summary Judgment (No.2) re: the Issue of Director 
Independence, each of these non-Cotter directors also were disinterested in the decision before 
them and therefore "independent." Indeed, directors voted on both sides of the issue, remained 
directors for some time thereafter (and Mr. Gould even to the present), and nonetheless are 
Defendants in this lawsuit. 

- 4 -
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Rather than attempting to distinguish these decisions (which he cannot, because they also 

2 address situations in which the plaintiff was both an officer and a stockholder, as here), 

3 Plaintiffs only response is "[t)his is a different version of the same argument the Court rejected 

4 previously in denying the motion to stay this case and compel arbitration." (PI. 's Opp ' n at 18; 

5 see also id. at 24-25 (same).) Not so. Plaintiffs argument misrepresents the issues involved in 

6 RDI ' s Motion to Compel Arbitration, and the Court ' s denial thereof. That motion was 

7 predicated on RDT's argument that "the Employment Agreement is a valid and existing contract 

8 with an agreement to arbitrate disputes thereunder, and all of Mr. Cotter's claims ari se from or 

9 relate to the Employment Agreement." (RDI ' s Mot. to Compel Arbitration (Aug. 10,2015) 

10 at 5.) In denying RDI' s motion , the Court merely recognized that, to the extent that Plaintiff may 

II have deri vative claims as an RDI stockholder, rather than as an employee, they do not "arise 

12 from or relate to" his Employment Contract and are thus not issues subject to arbitration. (See 

13 Sept. I , 20 IS Hr'g Tr. at 9:21-10: I ("While the issue related to employment is a factor impotiant 

14 to both Mr. Cotter and the Intervenors, it does not preclude them from pursuing this litigation, 

15 rather than going through arbitration, for preservation of their rights as shareholders. "). 

16 That Plaintiffs alleged derivati ve claims fall outside the corners of his Employment 

17 Contract is a far different issue than whether the causes of action he asserts as a stockholder are 

18 actually valid as a matter of law. With respect to his termination claim, they are not-based on 

19 the law of every jurisdiction to consider it. See, e.g., Berman v. Physical Med. Ass 'n, Ltd., 225 

20 FJd 429, 433 (4th Cir. 2000) (affirming di smissal offiduciaty duty claim that directors did not 

21 follow fair procedures in deciding to terminate stockholder/doctor' s employment because "any 

22 injury caused by the tell11ination decision itself would be an injUly to his interests as an 

23 employee, not as a stockholder"); In re Eagle Corp., 484 B.R. at 654 (a stockholder "who is also 

24 an employee cannot recover on a breach of fiduciaty duty claim when the claim is grounded 

25 solely in an employment dispute"); Wall SI. Sys., Inc. v. Lemence, No. 04 Civ. 5299, 2005 WL 

26 2143330, at *8 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 2, 2005) (dismissing third-party claims against directors because 

27 "they are essentially employment disputes that cannot sustain a claim of fiduciary breach under 

28 Delaware law"); Dweck v. Nassar, No. 1353-N, 2005 WL 5756499, at '5 (Del. Ch. Nov. 23, 
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2005) ("[the shareholder's] allegations of wrongdoing in connection with her tennination as 

2 President and CEO" by the Board of Directors "are insufficient to suppon a claim for breach of 

3 fiduciary duty"); Nahass v. Harrison, C.A. No. 15-12354, 2016 WL 4771059, at '6 (D. Mass. 

4 Sept. 13, 2016) (telminated officer could not maintain a breach of fiduciary duty claim where his 

5 tennination was authorized under "the Bylaws"); In re Eagle Corp., 484 B.R. 640, 654 (Bankr. 

6 D.N.1. 2012) (removal of officer and director could not be a breach offiducialY duty where 

7 "Delaware General Corporation Law provides for removal . . . with or without cause"); 

8 Goldstein v. Lincoln Nat'l Convertible Sec. Fund, Inc., 140 F. Supp. 2d 424, 438 (E. D. Pa. 2001) 

9 (plaintiff could not maintain fiduciary duty claim "[g]iven the express statutory authorization for 

10 the Board's action"), vacated on other grounds, 2003 WL 1846095 (3d Cir. Apr. 2, 2003); 

II Quadrant Structured Prod. Co., Ltd. v. Vertin, C.A. No. 6990-VCL, 2014 WL 5465535, at '3 

12 (Del. Ch. Oct. 28, 2014) (dismissing action where the "governing documents authorized" the 

13 challenged "strategy"); see also 2 Fletcher Cye. Corp. § 363 (2015) ("where a bylaw provided 

14 that any officer might be removed by a majority vote of the entire board whenever the best 

15 interests of the company require it, it was for the directors to detennine what was in the best 

16 interests of the company; the courts will not interfere unless for fraud or illegality"). 

17 Plaintiff cannot distinguish or avoid this authority. In fact, even "under Delaware law," 

18 which Plaintiff maintains is the "persuasive authority" on which he relies (PI. 's Mot. at 22 n.6), 

19 couns are emphatic that "there can be no breach of fiduciary duty stemming from the termination 

20 of [an officer's] employment." Kasper v. LinuxMall.com, Inc., No. Civ. A. 00-2019, 2001 WL 

21 230494, at '3 (D. Minn. Feb. 23, 2001) (applying Delaware law in termination of president); see 

22 also Riblet Prods. Corp. v. Nagy , 683 A.2d 37, 39-40 (Del. 1996) (no breach of fiduciary duty 

23 where stockholder/plaintiffwas "an employee of the corporation under an employment contract 

24 with respect to issues involving that employment"). Simply put, his claim is meritless. 

25 

26 

27 

28 

B. Even If the Termination of an Employee Could Constitute a Breach of 
Fiduciary Duty, Plaintiff's Claims Fail as a Matter of Law 

Even assuming arguendo that the tennination of an employee could ever suppon a breach 

of fiducialY duty claim in Nevada, Plaintiff cannot establish an actionable breach of fiduciary in 
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this case with respect to the Board 's tennination dec ision because ( \ ) the Board 's decision was 

2 protected by the business judgment rule, which always applies to employment decisions under 

3 Nevada law; (2) the dec ision to tenninate Plaintiff based on the undisputed facts was fair to the 

4 Company and its stockholders (and, although ilTelevant for these claims under Nevada law, fair 

5 to Plaintiff); (3) Plaintiff cannot show that the Board's termination dec ision involved " intentional 

6 misconduct, fraud, or a knowing violation of the law," as is required for indiv idual liability under 

7 Nevada law; and (4) Plaintiff has no evidence of any damages to RD I proximately caused by his 

8 telmination. 

9 

10 

II 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

I. Under Nevada Law, the Business Judgment Rule Applies in the 
Context of a n Employee Termination 

Plaintiff does not contest that if the business judgment rule were to apply, his fiduciary 

duty claims arising out of his telmination would fai l as a matter of law. (See PI. 's Opp ' n at 10-

18.) Instead, he expresses surprise in his opposition brief that the Individual Defendants ' 

opening brief "makes no mention" of Delaware's "entire fairness" standard, which Plaintiff 

claims applies to the Board 's telmination decision given his allegations regarding the 

interestedness or lack of independence of cel1ain Board members . (Opp'n at 15.) 

There is no justification for Plaintiff's purported shock. Plaintiff has fai led to identify a 

single case in which any court (let alone a Nevada court) has subjected a board's decision to 

tenninate an officer to Delaware 's "entire fairness" test.4 More impol1antly, Nevada law-not 

Delaware law-governs Plaintiff's telmination claim.s Nevada's business judgment rule, 

codified by statute, provides that "[dJirectors and officers, in deciding upon matters of business, 

are presumed to act in good faith, on an infOlmed basis and with a view to the interests of the 

corporation." NRS 78 .138(3) (emphasis added). Nevada's corporate law identifies only two 

situations where the business judgment presumption may be disturbed: ( I) where directors take 

4 Nor, as RDI points out in its conculTently-filed reply brief, does it make sense to apply a 
Delaware test focused on "fair price" to an employment tennination situation where price is not 
an issue. (See RDI Reply in SuppOJ1 of Ind. Defs.' MSJ No. I § I.) 

5 While Nevada com1s may take into consideration Delaware precedents, such consideration 
is unnecessary here where there exists Nevada law. 
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certain actions to resist "a change or potential change in control of the corporation," NRS 

2 78 .1 39(1 )(b), 2-4; and (2) in an " interested director transaction," which may involve "self-

3 dealing" between a director and a corporation, NRS 78 .140. In his opposition, Plaintiff concedes 

4 that, "[b}y their telms, on their face, those two statutory provisions do not speak to circumstances 

5 other than those described" and are therefore not relevant to his termination claims. (PI. 's Opp ' n 

6 at 15 n.4.) The Indiv idual Defendants agree. But Plaintiff has not identified any Nevada statute 

7 or legal dec ision that has disturbed the application of the business judgment rule outside of these 

8 two situations. And he cannot identify a single case subjecting a board 's decision to telminate an 

9 officer to any "fairness" review (under Nevada law or elsewhere) . 

10 The conclusion is simple: the RDI Board 's business decision to remove a CEO was a 

11 purely operational decision that is one of those " matters of bus iness" always entitled to the 

12 Nevada statutory presumption of reasonable business judgment under NRS 78.138(3). See 

13 Nahass, 2016 WL 4771059, at "'5 (questioning how the "entire fairness" doctrine ever "would 

14 apply to employment decisions," and rejecting fiduciary duty claim by officer teJminated by 

15 company's directors).6 This is fully consistent with the wide discretion afforded to corporate 

16 boards under Nevada law on matters that deteJmine the course of the company, see NRS 78.120, 

17 78 .1 35,78.138, whether or not to sell the company, see NRS 78.139, and the limitations on 

18 liabil ity, see NRS 78.037, 78.751,78 .7502. As Nevada corporate policy, these statutes are 

19 designed to vest decision-making in the board, and to protect directors who are called upon to 

20 make these decisions (usually working on a paJi-time basis, sometimes with less-than-perfect 

21 knowledge, and typically for not much money). See also NRS 78.138(7) (providing additional 

22 legal protections to directors with respect to potential personalliability).7 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

6 In ShOJi, in Nevada, there is a marked contrast between "operational decisions," such as 
removing an officer or changing a marketing strategy, and "transactional decisions," such as 
where a director can be on both sides of a particular transaction. It defies logic to imply a more 
stringent standard for operational decisions like the termination of an executive (i.e. , Delaware 's 
"entire fairness" test) than there is under existing Nevada statutes where a director sits on both 
sides of a specific transaction (i.e., the NRS 78 . I 40 "fair as to the corporation" analysis). 

7 The only other basis upon which Plaintiff challenges this Board decision relies on 
allegations of "lack of independence" by certain Board members. Even if the disinterestedness 
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2. The Board's Termination of Plaintiff Was Fair 

2 As noted above, Nevada law does not recognize Delaware's "enti re faimess" standard in 

3 the context of an officer termination. Nor does it employ a "fairn ess review" outside of the 

4 inapplicable circumstances ofNRS 78.140(2)(d)-and specifically not for an "employment 

5 decision." But even assuming that this Court should evaluate the fairness of the Board's process 

6 or ultimate decision to terminate Plaintiff as CEO and President, no colorable argument can be 

7 made that Plaintiff s removal was not "fair" to RDI (which is the actual "derivative plaintiff') 

8 both procedurally and on the merits. See, e.g., NRS 78. 140(2)(d) (refusing to void interested 

9 director transaction if it was "fair as to the corporation at the time it is authorized or approved"). 

10 (a) The Process Involved in Plaintifrs Removal 'Vas Fair 

II The months-long reasoned review process underlying Plaintiff's removal was fair to RDI 

12 (and, although not required, to Plaintiff as well). (See Defs.' MSJ No. I at 21-22; Opp'n at 26-

13 27.) Prior to fOlmally discussing Plaintiff's removal at any Board meeting, the RDI Board 

14 worked infotmally with Plaintiff over several months in an attempt to rectify and alleviate his 

15 many deficiencies, including by appointing Director Storey as an "ombudsman" to help coach 

16 Plaintiff. (See Defs.' MSJ No. I at 8-9; Defs.' Opp'n at 8-10.) Storey had wall1ed Plaintiff well 

17 prior to May 21, 2015 that he faced removal absent significant ShOt1-term improvement; in an 

18 April 15,2015 emai l to Plaintiff, Storey wrote: " It has been made clear to Jim he needs to make 

19 progress in the business and with Ellen and Margaret quickly, or the board will need to look to 

20 altell1atives to protect the interests of the company." (HD#I Ex. 37 at 1_3 .)8 As Director 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

and/or independence of RDI's directors could have an impact on whether the business judgment 
rule applies to the Board 's tennination ofa corporate officer (which they do not), Directors 
Edward Kane and Guy Adams were clearly "disinterested" and " independent" with respect to 
their decisions to support Plaintiffs removal from office for the reasons set fOt1h in the 
Individual Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (No.2) re: the Issue of Director 
Independence (see Defs.' MSJ No.2 at 6-10, 15- 19, 22-27), the Individual Defendants' 
Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (Defs.' Opp'n at 22-26), and the 
Individual Defendants' concurrently-filed Reply in Suppot1 of their Motion for Partial Summaty 
Judgment (No.2). Plaintiff is wrong on the law and unsupported by the facts to the extent that 
he seeks to challenge the disinterestedness and independence of RDI Directors Kane and Adams 
on the issue oftennination or any of the various Board actions he challenges. 

8 Plaintiff, in his opposition, does not deny that Storey gave him this warning. Instead, 
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McEachem testified, Plaintiff "knew that his position as CEO was in jeopardy for a longer period 

2 of time than just May 21 ," (HD# I Ex. 7 at 176: 1-9), and Plaintiff conceded at deposition that he 

3 was aware that there was "the possibility of getting an interim CEO . . . as early as October 

4 2014." (HD# I Ex. II at 528:9-529:20.) 

5 Plaintiff objects that the ombudsman process did not continue until the end of June 20 16 

6 (PI. 's Opp ' n at 7 n.2), and assel1s that agenda items distributed by Ellen Cotter two days in 

7 advance of the Board ' s May 21,2015 meeting-which listed "status of President and CEO" as 

8 an item for discussion (HD# I Ex . 39)-were vague and unexpected. (PI.'s Opp ' n at 5.) But 

9 neither complaint is valid. Regardless of what certain Directors may have preferred (or Plaintiff 

10 himself may have wanted), the Board "never set a date of June 30 for our intervention" and 

II Director Kane and others felt that "there was no reason for us to wait until June 30" without 

12 progress, as protecting stockholder value needed to be considered paramount to Plaintiff's self-

13 interested desire to remain CEO and Pres ident. (HD# 1 Ex . 6 at 532: 12-533: IS.) Plaintiff's 

14 claim that Ellen Cotter' s agenda item was ambiguous is contradicted by the presence of 

IS Plaintiff's current litigation counsel at the May 21,2015 Board meeting (HD# l Ex . 29 at I), and 

16 the fact that, in the days prior, both Plaintiff and his counsel threatened to sue each director "and 

17 ruin them financially" if they voted for hisremoval. (HD# I Ex. 3 at 426: 19-427:9; HD# I Ex. 7 

18 at 78 : 14-79:2.)9 Plaintiff was well aware that the Board was going to discuss his potential 

19 removal on May21,2015. 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Plaintiff merely suggests that Storey not only cautioned that a removal could involve Plaintiff, it 
could involve Ellen and/or Margaret Cotter as well- a fact that is irrelevant to whether the 
process involving Plaintiff's removal was fair. (PI. ' s Opp ' n at 5.) 

9 While Plaintiff makes vague allusion to "entrenchment" in his opposition (PI. ' s Opp ' n 
at 15), there is no evidence that his termination was about entrenchment of any director. On its 
face, none of the non-Cotter directors had a stake in the outcome of the vote, and Plaintiff 
proffers no evidence that any director was more or less likely to remain on the Board based on 
how they voted. Entrenchment is "engaging in [an] action which had the effect ofprotecting 
their tenure" and being "motivated primarily or solely for the purpose of achieving that effect"­
the very definition of "entrenchment," In re Fuqua Indus., Inc. S 'ho/der Litig., Civ. A. No. 
11974, 1997 WL 257460, at 'II (Del. Ch. May 13, 1997). The only evidence of entrenchment 
as a motive is from Plaintiff's threats to "ruin" board members "financially" through a lawsuit if 
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Plaintiffs related ins inuation that he was not provided suffic ient notice of his potential 

2 removal prior to the May 21,2015 Board meeting is similarly flawed. Not only was Plaintiff 

3 aware for months that his job was in jeopardy, and given specific notice that his status would be 

4 debated at a fOlmal Board meeting two days prior to its OCCUITence (both of which factually 

5 disprove Plaintiffs argument), Plaintiff ignores the clear authority collected by the Individual 

6 Defendants in their opening brief (Defs. ' MSJ No.1 at 21) establ ishing that directors need not 

7 give a CEO any advance notice of a plan to remove him or heL lo RD I's Bylaws contain no such 

8 requirement, and instead provide that Plaintiff could "be removed at any time." (HD#I Ex. 19 

9 Art. IV § 10.) As such, Plaintiffs notice and timing objections are baseless. 

10 Plaintiffs characterization of communications between Board members leading up to the 

11 May 21, 2015 Board meeting as "consist[ing] of secret machinations and agreements" is also a 

12 product of his own imagination. (PI. 's Opp'n at 17.) None of the evidence he cites suppoliS his 

13 depiction. (See id. at 7.) Rather, as various directors independently contemplated Plaintiffs 

14 removal over the weeks leading up to May 21 , 2015, they began a series of emails, meetings, and 

15 infolmal straw polls as to a potential tennination vote, and commenced discussing what to do on 

16 an interim basis in the event that Plaintiff was fired. (HDO Ex . 9 at 175: 17- 179:7; HDO Ex . 3 

17 at 98:8-99:22; HDO Ex. 4 at 366: 14-373:2.) None of this was improper, as Plaintiff suggests. 

18 Rather, the Board had to determine ifit was even wOlihwhi le to fOlmally discuss Plaintiffs 

19 employment status during a Board meeting, and it had an obligation to plan ahead ifhe was 

20 ultimately removed. 

21 Directors holding infolmal discussions in advance of a meeting as to how they might vote 

22 on an impoliant matter, and contemplating what steps to take should a vote go a celiain way, is 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

they dared to exercise their fiduciary duties and debate the merits of his continued tenure. 
(HD# I Ex. 3 at 426:19-427:9; HD# I Ex. 7 at 78: 14-79:2.) 

10 Plaintiff does not cite a single case for the proposition that any notice is required. Other 
authority is clem' that notice is not necessary. See OptimisCorp. v. Waite, C.A. No. 8773-VCP, 
2015 WL 5 147038, at *66-67 (Del. Ch. Aug. 26, 2015) (rejecting argument that directors 
"breached their duty of loyalty by not advising [CEO] in advance of his potential telmination"); 
2 Fletcher Cyc. Corp. § 357.20 (2015) (a board 's failure to give CEO advance notice of a plan to 
remove him as CEO does "not invalidate his telmination"). 
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exactly what diligent board members should do. Moreover, there is "a difference between 

2 corporate acts and infolmal intentions or discussions." In re NUflloda Corp. S'holders LiNg., 

3 C.A. No. 9163-VCN, 2015 WL 402265, at '9 (Del. Ch. Jan. 30, 2015). "Corporate acts are 

4 driven by board meetings, at which directors make formal decisions," and coulis look "to 

5 organizational documents, official minutes, duly adopted resolutions, and a stock ledger, for 

6 example, for evidence of corporate acts." Id. Conversations and even "conversational 

7 agreements" are not "corporate acts" and do not provide the basis for any liability. Id. 

8 Finally, once the fOlmal Board review process began, there was no "kangaroo court," as 

9 Plaintiff misleadingly claims. (PI.'s Opp'n at 7, 14, 17.) The only emails cited by Plaintiff in 

10 suppoli of this point pre-date the Board' s May 21,2015 meeting, and merely evince Director 

II Storey's disagreement with the "apparent view" of certain directors "that no discussion is 

12 necessalY" and a simple vote on Plaintiff's employment would suffice once a motion to 

13 telminate was raised and seconded. (See, e.g., HDO Ex. 14.) Storey instead wanted to "define 

14 and address the issue, discuss it, and come to a conclusion," which was "a separate issue [as] to 

15 the merits of the decision before us." (HDO Ex. 1 at 134:9-135: 1; HDO Ex. 13 at 1-2.) 

16 What Plaintiff leaves out is that the RDI Board took Storey's advice, engaged outside 

17 counsel to assist it in its fiduciary duties, II and vigorously debated the merits of Plaintiffs 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

II Citing no legal precedent in support, Plaintiff asselis that the Individual Defendants' 
factual statement that they engaged the services of outside counsel when discussing Plaintiff's 
potential telmination (and their related suggestion that such engagement is indicative of a board 
acting responsibly) is somehow equivalent to "asseliing reliance on counsel" as an affirmative 
defense. (PI. 's Opp'n at 16 n.6.) Plaintiff is wrong as a matter oflaw. Acknowledging receipt 
of advice from an attorney is different and distinct from asserting an advice of counsel 
affirmative defense (which the Individual Defendants have not done and are not doing, as they 
are not claiming that they cannot be held liable because they relied in good faith on the informed 
advice of counsel in taking a specific action- i.e. , to terminate Plaintiff). See In re COli/verge, 
Inc. S'ho[ders Litig., Civ. A. No. 7368-VCP, 2013 WL 1455827, at ' I, '3-4 (Del. Ch. Apr. 10, 
2013) (finding no waiver of privilege and no invocation of adv ice of counsel defense~ holding 
that "it is the existence of legal advice that is material to the question of whether the board acted 
with due care, not the substance of that advice"). Plaintiff cannot have it both ways- he cannot 
proclaim there was a "kangaroo couli" and then seek to prevent the Individual Defendants fi'om 
noting steps taken to show that no procedural improprieties occurred. Regardless, had the RDI 
Board not engaged outside counsel , the procedure it employed in deciding whether to telminate 
Plaintiff would sti ll have been procedurally fair. 
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telmination in three different Board meetings held over a three-week period that lasted a 

2 combined 13 hours. (See Defs.' MSJ No. I at 8-12; Defs.' Opp ' n at 10-14.) The Board gave 

3 Plaintiff the oPPOltunity to speak "at length" regarding his tenure, and the chance to present a 

4 business plan (which he was unable to do). His response was nothing more than an appeal to 

5 nepotism (see HD# ! Ex. 30 at 3 (plainti ff asserting "that it was the intention of his father . . . that 

6 he run the Company and the Board should obselve his wishes"» and an attempt to intimidate the 

7 Board by again threatening a lawsuit. (HD# I Ex. 3 at 426: 19-427:9.) The Board properly 

8 defelTed a final termination decision when it appeared that Plaintiff agreed to a revised 

9 management structure, which would have created oversight over his responsibilities and had the 

10 potential to end his adversarial relationship with his sisters, who were key RDI employees and 

II also sat on the Board. (See HD# I Ex. 30 at 3-4 (Minutes of the May 29, 2015 Board meeting); 

12 HD# I Ex. 40 (May 27, 2015 version of agreement- in-principle); HDO Ex. 16 (June 3, 2015 

13 revision).) And the Board gave Plaintiff three separate chances to stay on as President under a 

14 new CEO so that he could better leam the business and gain the management skills he so sorely 

15 lacked. (HD# I Ex. 29 at 4; HD# I Ex. 30 at I.) The extensive reasoned review process utilized 

16 by the Board went far above any " fair procedure" requirement. 

17 (b) The Decision to Terminate Plaintiff Was Fair on the Merits 

18 The decision to tellllinate Plaintiff also was unquestionably fair on the merits with respect 

19 to RDI (and, although not required, also to Plaintiff). (See Defs.' MSJ No. I at 18-20; Opp 'n 

20 at 27-28.) After over a year of discovery, Plaintiff has not been able to meet the minimum proof 

21 thresholds required to create a triable issue of fact as to whether his tell11ination was fair on the 

22 merits. Instead it is beyond reasonable dispute that: 

23 • Plaintiff Lacked Significant Experience in Areas Critical to RDt: There is no 

24 ev idence in the record that Plaintiff's background would enable him to be an effective CEO or 

25 President. Instead, the Individual Defendants have established (and Plainti ff has not contested) 

26 (see Defs.' MSJ No. I at 5-6; Defs.' Opp 'n at 5) that Plaintiff lacked notewOlihyexperience in 

27 numerous areas critical to RDI. Director McEachern recognized that Plaintiff "had no real estate 

28 experience, no intemational experience, no management experience, no cinema experience and 

- 13 -

JA4535



no live theater experience"-virtually all of the business areas relevant to RD I' s operations. 

2 (HD#! Ex. 7 at 49:25-50:7.) Director Adams was similarly wOll'jed that Plaintiff "was young" 

3 and "didn 't have that much experience" (HD#! Ex . 4 at 462: 14-25), while Director Storey 

4 bel ieved that " if his last name wasn't Cotter, he wouldn't be CEO." (HD# I Ex . 4 at 460: 12-24.) 

5 Given this undisputed absence of experience, Plaintiff's eventual tenllination due to perfOimance 

6 issues-which arose, in part, because he was not yet ready to be CEO-was more than fair. 12 

7 • Teamwork and Morale Was Poor Under Plaintiff's Abusive Leadership: As the 

8 Individual Defendants have established (and Plaintiff has not contested) (see Defs.' MSJ No. 

9 at 7; Defs.' Opp ' n at 5-6), the Board was troubled by Plaintiffs "behavior," "temperament," and 

10 "anger issues" (HD#I Ex. 15 at 55:21-57:5), and some Directors considered sending Plaintiff to 

II a "psychologist or psychiatrist" or to anger management classes in early 20 15. (HD# l Ex . 6 

12 at 529:22-530:2; HD# I Ex. 35 at 3.) As Director Storey recognized, under Plaintiff, "morale" 

13 within RDI was "poor and needs to be improved," Plaintiff "need[ed] to establ ish teamwork," 

14 and he required hand-holding "to lead/develop leadership role." (HD# 1 Ex. 33 at 3.) 

15 • Plaintiff Lacked an Understanding of Key Components ofRDl's Business: The 

16 Individual Defendants have established that Plaintiff demonstrated a lack of understanding with 

17 respect to costs and margins highly critical to RD I's cinema business. (See Defs.' MSJ No. I 

18 at 7; Defs.' Opp ' n at 6-7.) Plaintiff has offered no evidence in response. (See PJ. 's Opp ' n.) 

19 • Plaintiff Could Not Work With Key RD I Executives: Plaintiff does not dispute that 

20 his sisters, Ellen and Margaret Cotter, were key executives within RD l. Nor does he dispute that 

21 he could not work well with them, as established by the Individual Defendants. (See Defs.' MSJ 

22 No. I at 6-7; Defs.' Opp'n at 7-9.) And he does not contest that, due to this inabil ity, Director 

23 Gould and others detennined that RD I was faced with "a dysfunctional management team" in 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

12 Plaintiffs only counter is that- five-and-a-halfyears hefore his election as CEO- his 
father authored a memo suggesting that he intended PlaintitTto succeed him. (Pl .'s Opp'n at 4.) 
Not only is this memo irrelevant to the issue of whether Plaintiff did or did not have significant 
experience in areas critical to RDI (and it actually proves true Director Storey's WOITY about 
nepotism), the intent of the late James 1. Cotter, Sr. in 2009 has no bearing on whether the 
tennination of his son years later was fair to the Company and its stockholders. 
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which there was "'thermonuclear' hostility" between the Cotters. (HD# 1 Ex. 35 at 2-3.) In fact, 

2 Plaintiff testified that the tensions between him and his sisters had become so intense by 20 I 5 

3 that RD I was unable to function, such that drastic refolm in behavior or potential termination(s) 

4 were required to get beyond the CUITent paralysis. (HD# I Ex. 12 at 696:22-700:3, 704:7-22.) 

5 Each of these issues, which were articulated and considered by the Individual Defendants 

6 prior to rendering their termination vote, is separately sufficient to justify Plaintiff's removal as 

7 CEO and President. Taken together, they render the fairness of the Board's tennination decision 

8 beyond dispute. 13 But Plaintiffs evidentiary failures do not end here. There is no evidence in 

9 the record that continuing Plaintiff as CEO and/or President would have been in the best interests 

10 of RD I. Nor is there any evidence in the record that returning him to office would be in the best 

I I interests of the Company. As McEachern testified, "from August of2014 until [Plaintiff's] 

12 telmination, I cannot tell you one thing that we did that created value for the company, one thing 

13 that Jim Cotter, Jr. managed to do. Nothing." (H D# 1 Ex . 7 at 292 :2-5.) Given the absence of 

14 record evidence, apparently Plaintiff cannot as well. At the summary judgment stage, this is fatal 

IS to Plaintiff's challenge to the fairness of his telmination, as he cannot show that his removal was 

16 in any way "unfair" to RDI-the actual derivative plaintiff in this action. 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

13 With respect to the above-deficiencies, Plaintiff's asselis-with absolutely no suppoli­
that the substantial testimony and documentary evidence collected by the Individual Defendants 
is "flimsy"; his one factual response is to claim that Director Kane, at least, did not actually share 
these concems. (PI. 's Opp 'n at 4.) A reference to the evidence collected by the Individual 
Defendants belies any suggestion that it is "fl imsy," and such naming-calling, of course, falls 
well sholi of Plaintiffs obligation to muster contrary evidence at the summary judgment stage. 
Moreover, Plaintiff's single reference to an early June 2015 email chain with Director Kane is 
itself "flimsy" and perplexing. If Plaintiff believes that Kane wanted him to remain CEO in 
early June 2015, it disproves his theolY that there was a conspiracy amongst the Indiv idual 
Defendants to remove him from office with no debate in mid-May 2015. In reality, the emails 
cited by Plaintiff regarding Kane, whom Plaintiff had begged to help him "broker" a deal with 
Ellen and Margaret Cotter (see Defs.' Opp'n at 12-13), merely show Kane using flattelY in an 
attempt to reason with Plaintiff, forestall his firing, and advocate for a negotiated resolution of 
the myriad of management problems plaguing Plaintiff's tenure. (See Pl.'s Appendix Ex. 2.) 
None of these actions by Kane, which were attempting to aveli the prevent, costly corporate 
battle, were in any way improper. 
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Despite this, Plaintiff still maintains that his telmination was unfair because the Board 

2 engaged in "attempted extortion and execution on the extoliion threat" when it delayed his 

3 potential telmination on May 29, 2015 after a potential negotiated settlement between the Cotters 

4 was agreed to in principle, and when it ultimately telminated him on June 12,2015 when that 

5 settlement fell through. (See PI.'s Opp 'n at 6, 17- 18.) There are two fatal problems to this 

6 argument. First, it relates only to fairness as it applies to Plaintiff-not RDI. But, in a derivative 

7 action, whether or not an action was fair vis-a.-vis Plaintiff is irrelevant as to whether it was fair 

8 to RDI, the actual plaintiffon whose behalf this lawsuit is (purportedly) being brought. Indeed, 

9 to the extent that Nevada has a "fairness review," it analyzes whether an action is "fair as to the 

10 corporation," not the individual involved. NRS 78. 140(2)(d). 

II Second, Plaintiffs pejoratives are unfounded. (See Defs.' MSJ No. I at 10- 11, 20~ Defs.' 

12 Opp'n at 12-14, 2S.) The Board ' s support for and consideration ofapotential compromise 

13 between the Cotter siblings was far from "extotiion"; rather, affording respect to the potential 

14 deal made business sense because it could have alleviated the admitted "dysfunction" within the 

15 management ranks that was clearly affecting the Company and stockholder value; rectified some 

16 of the otherwise-tetminal problems in Plaintiff's CEO tenure; and ameliorated Plaintiff's 

17 managerial deficienc ies by providing him with an Executive Committee structure under which he 

IS would have operated as CEO going forward, which could have allowed him the chance to grow 

19 and gain needed experience. (See HD# I Ex . 30 at 3-4; HD# I Ex . 40.) 

20 Once that agreement fell through, the Board was left with the same intractable problems 

21 as before-which Plaintiffdoes not dispute. As both Storey (who voted against termination) and 

22 Kane (who voted for termination) testified, the Individual Defendants felt that "things should be 

23 dealt with now," "[t]hey had come to a head and there was no point in delaying," "the current 

24 dishatmony within the business was untenable going forward, " "[t]here was a polarization in the 

25 office among the employees, and it had to be resolved one way or another." (HD# I Ex. I 

26 at 119:25 -1 20: 12, 154:2- 14; HD#2 Ex . 5 at 331 : 11-332: 17.) Given that the Board was faced 

27 with a CEO that could not perform adequately, lacked experience and expertise, required close 

28 
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superv ision, did not process the requisite leadership skills, and could not work well with various 

2 directors or executives, its decision to terminate Plaintiff was objectively fair. 

3 3. RD) Was Not Damaged by Plaintifr s Termination 

4 Even if Plaintiffs telmination was somehow "unfair" to RDI (which it was not), 

5 Plaintiffs fiduc iary duty claims arising from his removal must fail because he has not shown any 

6 damages to RDI resulting from his firing, nor has he provided evidence that any such damages 

7 were proximately caused by the Board's June 12, 2015 decision. (See Defs.· MSJ No. I at 22-

8 23; Defs.' Opp ' n at 19-20.) 

9 Plaintiff, in his oppos ition, spends pages on a convoluted argument suggesting that he is 

10 not required to actually prove any damages to RD I in order to establ ish his breach of fiduciary 

II duty claims against the Individual Defendants. (See PI. 's Opp'n at 19-21.) In fact, he labels 

12 such a requirement " imaginary." (hi. at 20.) But not once does Plaintiff cite applicable Nevada 

13 law. 14 In fact, Nevada precedent is clear that damages and proximate causation are both 

14 elements of a breach of fiduciary claim (and any related aiding and abetting claim). See Olvera 

15 v. Shafer, No. 2: 14-cv-0 1298,2015 WL 7566682, at '2 (D. Nev. Nov. 24, 2015) ("A claim for 

16 breach of fiduciary duty under Nevada law requires a plaintiff to demonstrate a fiduciary duty 

17 exists, that duty was breached, and the breach proximately caused the damages. "); Klein v. 

18 Freedom Strategic Partners, LLC, 595 F. Supp. 2d 1152, 1162 (D. Nev. 2009) (same, applying 

19 Nevada law); In re Amerco Deriv. LiNg., 127 Nev. 196,225 (2011) (adopting standard for 

20 "aiding and abetting a breach of a fiduciary duty," for which one of the "four elements" is "the 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

14 Kendall v. Henry Mountain Mines, Inc., 78 Nev. 408 (1962), the one Nevada case that 
Plaintiff cites for the proposition that corporations may void the chall enged transactions of 
interested directors (PI. 's Opp ' n at 20), says nothing about the elements of a fiduciary duty claim 
or whether damages are a required showing. Similarly, Cinerama, Inc. v. Technicolor, Inc., 643 
A.2d 345 (Del. 1993), a Delaware case, does not suppOli Plaintiffs argument. While that case 
states that "[t]o require proof of injury as a component of proof necessary to rebut the business 
judgment presumption would be to convel1 the burden shifting process from a threshold 
determination of the appropriate standard ofa review to a dispositive adjudication on the merits," 
id. at 37 1, this quote does not stand for the proposition that no proof of injury is required at all­
instead, it merely establishes the timing as to when proof of injury is required. In fact, the court 
went on to state that "injmy or damages becomes a proper focus only after a transaction is 
determined not to be entirely fair." Id. (emphasis in original) . 
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breach of the fiduciary relationship resulted in damages") ; see also Stalk v. Mushkin, 125 Nev. 

2 21, 2S (2009) ("a breach of fiduciary duty claim seeks damages for injuries that result from the 

3 tOliious conduct of one who owes a duty to another by virtue of the fiduciary relationship") . 

4 In contrast to his motion (where he did not discuss damages at all), Plaintiff in his 

5 opposition contends that he "has produced evidence of damages." (Defs.' Opp'n at 2 I.) But 

6 nothing Plaintiff cites constitutes economic hatm to RDI proximately "caused by" his 

7 telmination. To the extent that Plaintiff identifies certain corporate actions taken after his firing 

S as "waste," such as "monies paid to third-paliy consultants" (icl.) , he introduces no proof that this 

9 alleged conduct was wasteful, nor does he introduce evidence showing that his termination was 

10 the proximate cause of such waste. Indeed, Plaintiffstill sits on RDI's Board, and his failure to 

II prevent the conduct of which he complains undennines any causal connection to his removal (as 

12 it apparently would have occulTed ilTespective of his firing).l S 

13 Plaintiff also baldly asserts-without citation-that RD I 's stock price suffered a 

14 "diminution" in "the days following disclosure of ' Plaintiffs telmination. (lei.) As an initial 

15 matter, this is not actually true. On June IS, 20 15, the day that RDI filed a FOlm 8-K 

16 announcing Plaintiffs removal (HD# I Ex. 25), RDI's stock price closed at $ 13.53/share, up 

17 from $13.45/share the day before. 16 By June 30, 2015, the Company's stock price was 

IS $ 13.S5/share, and it reached $14.00/share on July 1,2015. Even ifRD I's stock price had not 

19 risen, a mere drop in share price is insuffic ient to satisfy the required causation. See Morgan v. 

20 AXT, inc., No. C 04-4362, 2005 WL 2347125, at '16 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 23, 2005) (that share price 

21 dropped after disclosure revealed prior misrepresentations is insuffic ient to constitute causation). 

22 And, of course, a "decline" in "stock price is not even a derivative injUlY" and cannot suppoli the 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

IS Plaintiff also asselis that the Individual Defendants "have wrongfully insisted that 
Plaintiff resign as Company director." (Pl. 's Opp 'n at S.) While this allegation has absolutely 
no relevance to whether or not Plaintifrs telmination was a fiduciaty breach, Plaintiff in fact did 
not resign and instead remains a Board member to this day- meaning that neither he nor RDI 
could have suffered any damages from this purportedly wrongful conduct. 

16 See http: //www.nasdaq.comfsymbollrdilhistorical. 
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required causation in the context of Plaintiffs purported derivative action. South v. Baker, 62 

2 A.3d 1, 25 (Del. Ch. 20 12). 

3 Plaintiffis left with an asseliion, based on a single twenty-year-old New York case, that a 

4 shift in the "control of the company" may "be viewed as ilTeparable injUly." Vanderminden v. 

5 Vanderminden, 226 A.D.2d 1037, 1041 (App. Div. , 3d Dep't, 1996). But "control" ofRD I did 

6 not shift with Plaintiffs termination: Ellen and Margaret Cotter, as trustees of the Estate of 

7 James 1. Cotter, Sr. (recognized by this Couli), controlled the majority of RDl's shares both 

8 before and after Plaintiff's termination. Moreover, the Vane/ermine/en case does not involve a 

9 derivative claim; rather, it addresses an inappos ite situation, where rival shareholders were 

10 battling for control of a trust (and thus a shift in voting power was ilTeparable hallll to one 

II plaintiff) . See id. In contrast, this action is brought by Plaintiff in a derivative capacity, as a 

12 representative of the Company itself; he must show hallll to RD I, not himself. But there is no 

13 such ev idence. Uncontroverted testimony and documentary evidence from within RDI indicates 

14 that Plaintiff "was very weak as a c.E.O. or as a manager," and "wasn ' t really leading the 

15 business and he wasn't leading us forward." (Defs .' MSJ No. I at 22 (citations omitted)). 

16 Similarly, RDI's major unaffiliated investors have indicated that it would not" make much 

17 difference" to the Company's stockholders if Plaintiff was CEO, and that the overall 

18 performance of the RDI, along with its business plan, have remained entirely consistent and 

19 appropriate since Plaintiffs termination. (ld. at 22-23 (c itations omitted).) 

20 Because Plaintiff does not have ev idence of any "economic hmm" flowing to RD I 

21 following his telmination, let alone evidence that his firing was the "prox imate cause" of such 

22 harm, he cannot establish an actionable breach offiducialY claim. 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

4. Plaintiff Cannot Show That His Termination Involved Intentional 
Misconduct. Fraud. or a Knowing Violation of the Law 

Finally. even if Plaintiffs termination was somehow unfair (it was not) and proximately 

caused damages to RDI (which it did not), the Indiv idual Defendants are statutorily immune 

from individual liability where, as here, any "breach" did not involve intentional misconduct, 

fraud. or a knowing violation oflaw. (See Defs.' MSJ No. I at 14. 18; Defs.' Opp ' n at 28-29.) 
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Nevada's corporate law provides "a director or officer is not individually liable to the 

2 corporation or its stockholders or creditors for any damages as a result of any act or failure to act 

3 in his or her capacity as a director unless it is proven that . . . the breach of those duties involved 

4 intentional misconduct, fi'aud or a knowing violation of law." NRS 78 .138(7). There can be no 

5 "knowing violation" or "intentional misconduct" where the RD I Board weighed the propriety of 

6 Plaintiffs telmination over several meetings, considered his attempted defense of his tenure, 

7 engaged outside counsel to assist it in exerc ising its fiduc iary duties, and al1iculated a wide 

8 variety of business-specific reasons motivating its removal decision. Even the Directors that 

9 voted not to telminate Plaintiff on June 12,2015 recognized significant problems with his 

10 performance, and objected more to the timing of his removal than to the underlying basis. (See 

11 Defs.' MSJ No. I at 8-12,19.) Plaintiff has not identified a single case anywhere in which 

12 directors have been held liable for breaching their fiduciary duties in the context of an employee 

13 telmination, let alone under the strict requirements set fOlth in NRS 78 .138(7). 

14 Plaintiffs only response is to cite Delaware law, and argue that "the exculpatolY statute" 

15 does not apply where, as here, he has asselted "duty of loyalty" claims. (Pl.'s Opp ' n at 16 n.5.) 

16 Once again , Plaintiffs reliance on Delaware law-as opposed to Nevada law-is flawed. In 

17 contrast to whatever Delaware may hold, the Nevada Supreme Coul1 has made clear that under 

18 Nevada law, "directors and officers may only be found personally liable for breaching their 

19 fiduciary duty of loyalty if that breach involves intentional misconduct, fraud, or a knowing 

20 violation of the law." Shoen , 122 Nev. at 640 (citing NRS 78. 138(7) (emphasis added» . 

21 Because Plaintiff cannot meet this requirement (nor has he even attempted to), his claims fail as 

22 a matter of law. 

23 c. Plaintiff's Reinstatement Demand Is Unsupportable and Untenable 

24 As the Indiv idual Defendants emphasized in their opening brief, even if the Board 's 

25 removal of Plaintiff somehow constituted a breach of fiduc iary duty, the reinstatement rel ief 

26 demanded by Plaintiffis untenable as a matter of law and practice. (Defs.' MSJ No. 1 at 28-30; 

27 Defs.' Opp ' n at 29-30.) Perhaps for this reason Plaintiff has not identified a single case in any 

28 jurisdiction in which the firing ofa corporate officer was reversed following a breach of 
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fiduciary duty claim. (See hi.) The Individual Defendants identified six reasons such a remedy 

2 is precluded. (See Ind. Defs.' MSJ No. I at 28-30.) Plaintiff does not address any of them. 

3 Failure to make a responsive argument in the first instance constitutes a waiver. ChonwdhlY v. 

4 NLVH. Inc. , III Nev. 560, 563 (1995); see also Polk v. State, 126 Nev. 180, 185 (20 I O)(failure 

5 to address or dispute argument is "a confession of etTOr on this issue"). Notwithstanding 

6 Plaintiff s waiver, the numerous problems associated with any reinstatement of Plaintiff as CEO 

7 and President of RDI render that relief untenable. Such a request, which is unsuPPolied by law, 

8 contradicted by the terms of Plaintiffs Employment Contract, and operationally problematic, 

9 should be denied. 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

D. Even If the Termination of an Employee Could Constitute a Breach of 
Fiduciary Duty, Plaintiff Lacks Standing to Maintain His Derivative Action 

Finally, Plaintiffs termination claim fails as a matter oflaw for yet another independent 

reason: Plaintiff lacks standing to derivatively assel1 breach of fiducimy duty claims against the 

Individual Defendants arising out of his telmination. 

Plaintiffs main response is that an attack on his derivative standing "has been rejected by 

the COUl1 previously." (Defs.' Opp ' n at 22.) This is misleading at best. Elements of standing 

are not merely pleading requirements, but are also an "indispensable pm1 of the plaintiffs case" 

on which "the plaintiff bears the burden of proof' at each of "the successive stages of the 

litigation." Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S . 555, 561 (1992); see also CCWIPP v. 

Alden, No. Civ. A. 1184, 2006 WL 456786, at * 10 (Del. Ch. Feb. 22, 2006) ("di scovery" and 

"[fJUl1her development of the facts" may prove a plaintiff is "an inadequate derivative plaintiff") . 

At the motion to dismiss stage, the Court was required to accept Plaintiffs mere allegations as 

true, and afford him any and all reasonable inferences wan·anted on the pleadings alone. But 

Plaintiff cannot meet his burden now that discovelY has occun"ed and he must provide actual 

evidence to support standing with respect to his ability to derivatively assel1 his termination 

claim and his demand for reinstatement.!7 

!7 In his opposition, Plaintiff points to purpOited "substantial evidence of self-dealing" 
28 conduct by the Individual Defendants with respect to their approval of both a stock option and 
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In the ir opening brief, the Individual Defendants ' established why Plaintiff lacks 

2 derivative standing with respect to his termination claim and reinstatement demand: clear 

3 economic antagonisms exist between Plaintiff and other shareholders and the remedy sought by 

4 Plaintiffis entirely personal. (Defs.' MSJ No. I at 24-27.) Plaintiffs responses to these 

5 arguments are, at best, unsatisfactory on their face: he cites no cases in support of any of his 

6 points, and dist inguishes none of the authority collected by the Individual Defendants. (See PI. 's 

7 Opp 'n at 23-24.) 

8 But it is indisputable that Plaintiff lacks derivative standing for one simple reason: after 

9 over a year of discovery, he has fai led to identify a single RD I stockholder (other than himself) 

10 who supp0l1s his derivative action with respect to his tenllination claim or his demanded 

II reinstatement. This alone is fatal to Plaintiff's attempted derivative standing. See Khanna v. 

12 McMinn, No. Civ. A. 20545-NC, 2006 WL 1388744, at '41 (Del. Ch. May 9, 2006) ("the 

13 inadequacy of a plaintiff may be concluded from a strong showing of only one factor" if that 

14 factor involves "some conflict of interest between the derivative plaintiff and the class"). 

IS Instead, several notable third-party shareholders have gone on the record to actively oppose 

16 Plaintiffs telmination and reinstatement claims. (See Defs.' MSJ No. I at 28 (individuals who 

17 control over I million shares of RD I's Class A stock and over a thousand Class B shares have 

18 rejected the idea of reinstating Plaintiff because "the well has been poisoned" with respect to 

19 Plaintiffas CEO, his reinstatement would perpetuate a "divided company," Plaintiff is not "the 

20 single best qual ified person to run" RD I, and his advancement was the product of"nepotism").) 

21 Plaintiffs only response is a naked assertion that this "claim is inaccurate, as reflected by 

22 the objections to the T2 Plaintiffs ' request for court approval of their settlement." (PI. 's Opp 'n 

23 at 24.) But Plaintiff does not actually cite to or quote what these objections say, for good 

24 reason-they are have nothing to do with Plaintiffs telmination claim and reinstatement 

25 

26 

27 

28 

the nominations of new directors to justify his standing as a derivative plaintiff. (Defs.' Opp 'n 
at 22.) While the Individual Defendants do not challenge Plaintiffs theoretical ability to 
derivatively assert claims relating to those types of corporate actions, that "evidence"-which is, 
in fact , nonexistent- is entirely in·elevant to Plaintiffs derivative standing with respect to his 
separate termination claim and reinstatement demand- .the subject of this motion. 
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demand. (See Objs. of Diamond A. Pal1ners, L. P. and Diamond A. Invs., L. P., to Settlement 

2 at 3-6 (objecting to the settlement because it "provides no tangible benefit to shareholders" and 

3 "the General Release of all poss ible claims against Defendants and others is quite valuable and 

4 overbroad"); Obj. of Mark Cuban to Settlement at 4-6 (same, focusing on an argument that the 

5 settlement "releases any unknown claims Reading may bring").) Nowhere do the objecting 

6 stockholders provide any indication that they explicitly support Plaintiff's tellllination claim or 

7 are actively in favor of his demand for reinstatement as CEO and President afRD I. (See id.) 

8 This resounding "lack OfSUPP0l1" for Plaintiff's tellllination and reinstatement claims by 

9 relevant "non-defendant shareholders" is fatal to Plaintiff's standing. Love v. Wilson, No. CV 

10 06-06148, 2007 WL 4928035, at ' 6 (C.D. Cal. Nov. 15,2007) (rejecting derivative standing); 

II see alsa Smith v. Ayres, 977 F.2d 946, 948 (5th Cir. 1992) (lack of "cooperation" or SUppOIt from 

12 other shareholders undermined attempted derivative action); Energy tee, Inc. v. Proctor, Nos. 

13 3:06-cv-087 1 ef al., 2008 WL 4131257, at '7 (N. D. Tex. Aug. 29, 2008) (applying Nevada law 

14 and rejecting derivative standing of fanner CEO because other stockholders do not "share" an 

15 interest in his "regain[ing] control" of the company). Because Plaintiff lacks standing to pursue 

16 a derivative action seeking rel ief on his termination and reinstatement claims, summary 

17 judgment is entirely appropriate. 

18 III. CONC LUSION 

19 For the foregoing reasons, the Individual Defendants respectfully request that the COUlt 

20 grant both their Motion for Summary Judgment (No. I) re: Plaintiff's Tennination and 

21 Reinstatement Claims and provide such other and further relief as the Court may deem necessary 

22 and proper. 

23 III 

24 III 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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I. 	INTRODUCTION  

Plaintiffs arguments against granting summary judgment on the issue of the Individual 

Defendants' independence with respect to the litany of Board actions about which Plaintiff 

complains misapprehend the law and rely on speculation rather than facts. 

First, Plaintiff wrongly asserts that the independence of board members with respect to a 

specific action is a factual question inappropriate for summary judgment. Not so. Courts 

regularly decide the issue of director independence as a matter of law at the summary judgment 

stage—and even earlier, on motions to dismiss. 

Second, Plaintiff attempts to twist and complicate the facts to fit his favored narrative—

without regard to the evidence—of a board willing to do whatever the Cotter sisters might ask. 

Plaintiff ignores the dearth of facts supporting this view. Plaintiff refuses to concede that 

Douglas McEachern ("McEachern") is independent but provides nothing to rebut Plaintiff s 

admission to the contrary at his deposition. He believes that Edward Kane ("Kane") favors Ellen 

and Margaret Cotter and is biased against him based on Kane's prior friendship with their father; 

Judy Codding ("Codding") favors them due to her friendship with their mother; and Michael 

Wrotniak ("Wrotniak") favors Margaret Cotter because of her friendship with his wife. Case 

law, however, is starkly to the contrary: mere friendship does not make a director biased 

especially when that friendship is with someone else entirely and not the director him- or herself 

Plaintiff points to payments to Guy Adams ("Adams") by Ellen and Margaret Cotter as reason 

for Adams' purported lack of independence. The undisputed facts, however, are that (i) Adams 

earned those payments from preexisting business deals with James Cotter, Sr.; (ii) there is no 

certainty that his position on the Board or relationship with Reading is assured by "supporting" 

the sisters because future control of Cotter, Sr.'s Estate is disputed in a separate lawsuit and may 

ultimately rest with Plaintiff; and (iii) the compensation Adams receives is not material to his 

overall finances. In short, Plaintiffs allegations of second-hand friendships and nominal 

business ties are too remote as a matter of law to show a lack of independence with respect to 

any board action. 
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Third, Plaintiff does not present any evidence to show that any specific board action by 

any individual director defendant was actually compromised by the bias that he argues exists. 

Rather than point to specific self-dealing transactions (which do not exist) as would be typical in 

a challenge to director independence on an issue, he relies on the meaningless phrases 

"usurpation" and "entrenchment" as the goal. Generalized "usurpation" and "entrenchment" is 

insufficient to establish breach-of-fiduciary-duty claims against directors in Nevada; rather, 

Plaintiff must have evidence that specific board actions were affected by specific bias or lack of 

independence by specific directors rising to the level required by NRS 78.138(7)(a) (requiring 

intentional misconduct, fraud or knowing violation of the law for liability of individual 

directors). He does not, and accordingly his claims based on alleged lack of independence of 

individual directors should be summarily adjudicated against him.1  

II. ARGUMENT  

A. 	Summary Judument is Appropriate on This Record  

Utterly misreading the authority he cites, Plaintiff argues that because director 

independence is a "fact-specific determination," summary judgment is inappropriate. (Opp. at 

11-12.) Plaintiff relies on Beam ex rel Martha Stewart Living Omnimedia, Inc. v. Stewart, 845 

A.2d 1040, 1049 (Del. 2004), but the court in Beam actually granted the director defendants' 

motion to dismiss upon holding that the plaintiffs factual allegations did not show a lack of 

independence. Id. at 1049-54. If director independence can appropriately be determined on a 

1  At least the following board actions arguably comprise the claims Plaintiff contends are 
tainted by alleged director bias, and are covered by this summary judgment motion: (1) 
discussions about terminating Plaintiff (i d . ¶ 2); (2) terminating Plaintiff (i d . ¶ 3); (3) reactivating 
the Executive Committee (i d . ¶ 99); (4) electing Codding to RDI's board of directors (i d . ¶ 11); 
(5) electing Wrotniak to RDI's board of directors (i d . ¶ 12); (6) approving the Estate's exercise 
of an option for 100,000 Class B shares in September 2015 (id. ¶ 10); (7) manipulating the CEO 
search (id. In 137-147); (8) selecting Ellen Cotter as RDI's CEO (id. ¶ 146); (9) setting Ellen 
Cotter's salary as CEO (i d . ¶ 152); (10) selecting Margaret Cotter for her New York real-estate 
position (i d . ¶ 149); (11) setting Margaret Cotter's salary in that position (i d . ¶ 150); (12) making 
a $200,000 payment to Margaret Cotter when she became an RDI employee (a d . ¶ 151); (13) 
making a $50,000 payment to Guy Adams for his board service (id ¶ 153); (14) deciding not to 
pursue a third-party's indication of interest in purchasing RDI (id. Tilt 154-162); and (15) making 
purportedly misleading public statements in press releases and SEC filings (id. In 101, 135, 136). 

2 
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motion to dismiss, it can certainly be determined with the factual record present at summary 

judgment. According to Plaintiff; determining director independence as a matter of law would 

"ignore[ ] the clear teaching from Delaware's highest court." (Opp. at 11-12 (citing Beam, 845 

A.2d at 1049).) Putting aside that Nevada law applies here, the Delaware Supreme Court has 

noted that "Delaware courts have often decided director independence as a matter of law at the 

summary judgment stage." Kahn v. M & F Worldwide Corp., 88 A.3d 635, 649 (Del. 2014) 

(citing In re Transkaryotic Therapies, Inc., 954 A.2d 346, 369-70 (Del. Ch. 2008) and In re 

Gaylord Container Corp. S'holders Litig., 753 A.2d 462, 465 (Del. Ch. 2000)); see also SEPTA 

v. Volgenau, C.A. No. 6354-VCN, 2013 WL 4009193, at *12-21 (Del. Ch. Aug. 5,2013) 

(holding, on summary judgment, that directors on the special committee were disinterested and 

independent).2  

Plaintiff also appears to suggest that summary judgment would be improper because, 

under Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 56(f), the Court may grant a party opposing summary 

judgment additional time to conduct further discovery. (Opp. at 10-11.) However, Plaintiff does 

not explicitly request such relief and would not be entitled to it even if he did. Plaintiff makes no 

effort to identify (by affidavit or otherwise) any further evidence that he needs to collect to 

oppose the motion, as is required by the rule. Aviation Ventures, Inc. v. Joan Morris, Inc., 121 

Nev. 113, 118 (2005) (noting that a continuance under NRCP 56(f) is "appropriate only when the 

movant expresses how further discovery will lead to the creation of a genuine issue of material 

2 	The other out-of-state authorities cited by Plaintiff on this point also do not hold that it is 
improper to determine director independence at summary judgment. See In re Facebook, Inc., 
IPO Sec. & Derivative Litig., 922 F. Supp. 2d 445, 468 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (granting motion to 
dismiss due to plaintiffs failure to allege lack of independence or disinterestedness); In re 
Finisar Corp. Derivative Litig., 542 F. Supp. 2d 980, 988 (N.D. Cal. 2008) (same); Teamsters 
Union 25 Health Servs. & Ins. Plan v. Baiera, 119 A.3d 44, 61 (Del. Ch. 2015) (same); Gearhart 
Indus., Inc. v. Smith Int'l, Inc., 741 F.2d 707, 719 (5th Cir. 1984) (affirming lower court's 
decision to deny injunction where there was no evidence of directors' self-interest and no 
fiduciary duty was breached); Drobbin v. Nicolet Instrument Corp., 631 F. Supp. 860, 880 
(S.D.N.Y. 1986) (preliminary injunction appropriate where court found that directors were not 
disinterested and had not show that transaction was fair); Patrick v. Allen, 355 F. Supp. 2d 704, 
712 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (denying motion to dismiss where plaintiffs sufficiently alleged that 
defendants were not disinterested directors). 

3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

JA4556



fact"); Choy v. Ameristar Casinos, Inc., 127 Nev. 870, 871 (2011) (party opposing summary 

judgment is required by NRCP 56(f) to "provide an affidavit stating the reasons why denial or 

continuance of the motion for summary judgment is necessary to allow the opposing party to 

obtain further affidavits or discovery"). Given that trial is scheduled to start in only a few weeks, 

the Court should not grant any further time for discovery. 

B. 	RDI Directors McEachern, Kane, Coddinu, Wrotniak, and Adams are  

Independent as a Matter of Law 

1. 	Douglas McEachern 

Plaintiff inexplicably contends that while he "does not concede that McEachern was 

disinterested and/or independent," he somehow "can prevail on this Motion without showing 

McEachern to have lacked disinterestedness or independence" and therefore "chooses not to 

address McEachern." (Opp. at 16 n.3.) As was noted in the Motion, Plaintiff admitted at his 

deposition that McEachern is independent. (Mot. at 5, 15, 23.) When asked "Mr. McEachern, is 

he independent, in your view?" Plaintiff answered "Yes. I mean, he's — I mean, again, he's 

independent. He's got no relationship with Ellen and Margaret or, you know, no business 

relationship with Ellen and Margaret." (HD#23  Ex. 7 at 84:21-85:1.) When pressed as to 

whether, "in your view, Mr. McEachern is independent and has always been independent," 

Plaintiff responded "Okay. Yes." (Id. at 85:6-86:4.) Given that the Motion seeks summary 

judgment on the issue of independence as to each of the Individual Defendants except for Ellen 

and Margaret Cotter,4  Plaintiff has not met his burden of identifying "admissible evidence" 

showing "a genuine issue for trial" regarding McEachern's independence with respect to any 

board action. Posadas v. City of Reno, 109 Nev. 448, 452 (1993); Shuck v. Signature Flight 

Support of Nev., Inc., 126 Nev. 434, 436 (2010) ("bald allegations without supporting facts" are 

insufficient). 

3 	"HD#2" refers to the Declaration of Noah Helpern filed in support of the Individual 
Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (No. 2) Re: the Issue of Director 
Independence. 

4 	Solely for purposes of this Motion, the Individual Defendants do not contest the 
independence of Ellen and Margaret Cotter. (See Mot. at 14 n.2.) 
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2. 	Edward Kane 

Plaintiff concedes that the "deep friendship" of which he complains was actually between 

Kane and James Cotter, Sr.—not between Kane and Ellen or Margaret Cotter. (Opp. at 1-2.) 

Plaintiff argues that Kane's relationship with James Cotter, Sr. rendered him unable to be 

independent regarding disputes between Plaintiff, on the one hand, and Ellen and Margaret 

Cotter, on the other (Opp. at 2-3), but this defies logic. Plaintiff cites no evidence that Kane's 

friendship with James Cotter, Sr. resulted in Kane having a closer personal relationship with 

James Cotter, Sr.'s daughters than with his son. While Ellen and Margaret Cotter have at times 

referred to Kane as "Uncle Ed," so did Plaintiff until he was terminated. (App.5  Ex. 1 at 37:4-

14.) Indeed, Plaintiff does not dispute the fact that he has also known Kane all his life and even 

visited Kane at his home as late as the spring of 2015, just weeks before his termination, 

personally imploring him to help Plaintiff resolve his disputes with his sisters and retain his 

position as CEO. (Mot. at 16.) Even if Kane were Ellen and Margaret's uncle by blood (and not 

Plaintiff s), that is considered a "more remote family relationship[ ]" that is "not disqualifying" 

to a director's independence as a matter of law. See In re Amerco Derivative Litig., 127 Nev. 

196, 232-33 (2011) ("[A]n uncle/nephew relationship does not establish the parties as members 

of one another's immediate families[.]"); see also Beam, 845 A.2d at 1050 ("Allegations of mere 

personal friendship or mere outside business relationship, standing alone, are insufficient to raise 

a reasonable doubt about a director's independence."). 

Plaintiff also alleges bias because of Kane's understanding that James Cotter, Sr. 

intended for Margaret Cotter to control the Voting Trust and cites Kane's supposed "actions to 

make that happen" as evidence of Kane's lack of independence. (Opp. at 18.) As a preliminary 

matter, Plaintiff does not explain why Kane having an opinion about Cotter, Sr.'s intentions with 

respect to his personal estate would impact his independence as a Reading Board Member. 

Moreover, contrary to Plaintiffs claim that Kane attempted to "extort" him into settling his trust 

and estate disputes with his sisters (id.), the evidence shows that it was actually Plaintiff who 

5 	"App." refers to the Appendix of Exhibits filed by Plaintiff in support of his Opposition. 

5 

JA4558




